A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Repepted instances of prosecutorial misconduct deprived 

appellant of a fair trial. 

2. Ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to object to 

prosecutorial misconduct violated appellant's right to a fair trial. 

Issue Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

A prosecutor may not offer personal opinions on the credibility of 

witnesses or the strength of the State's case based on information outside 

the evidence and must refrain from emotional appeals. Here, the 

prosecutor argued witnesses were told to tell the truth and "that's exactly 

what they did." She also told the jury "this is the best evidence you're 

going to get," and argued appellant was hoping the jury wouldn't care 

about the victim's death but "we know he's wrong." When the jury's 

verdict rested on the credibility of appellant's testimony he acted in self

defense, do the prosecutor's improper comments require reversal? 

Alternatively, was defense counsel ineffective in failing to object? 

B. ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural Facts 

The King County prosecutor charged appellant Cu Van Truong with 

one count of first-degree murder while armed with a firearm and one count 

of unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 9-10. Truong argued he acted in 
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self-defense. 19RP 102-06. The jury found Truong guilty of murder and 

found he was armed with a firearm. CP 134-35. At a bifurcated bench trial, 

the court found Truong guilty of unlawfully possessing a firearm. CP 138-

39. 

The trial court denied Truong's motion to dismiss for insufficient 

evidence at the close of the state's case and his motion for arrest of judgment 

on the same basis. CP 149; 18RP1 86-88. The court imposed 548 months 

(the high end of the standard range), the consecutive 60-month firearm 

sentencing enhancement, and 75 months on the unlawful possession charge 

to run concurrently for a total of 608 months. CP 151-53. Notice of appeal 

was timely filed. CP 165. 

2. Substantive Facts 

Truong testified he was In fear for his life when he shot Jason 

Saechao. 18RP 140. That fear stemmed from both the history of Truong's 

relationship with Saechao's girlfriend Ilyan Yang as well as from Saechao's 

threatening conduct on the night in question. 18RP 136, 143-46. 

I There are 24 volumes of Verbatim Report of Proceedings referenced as follows: I RP 
Mar.12 , 2013;2RP-Mar.13,2013;3RP - Mar.14, 2013;4RP-Mar.18,2013;5RP
Apr. 29, 2013; 6RP - May 2, 2013; 7RP - May 20,2013; 8RP - May 21 , 2013 ; 9RP 
May 22, 2013; 10RP - May 23, 2013 ; IIRP - May 28,2013; 12RP - May 29,2013; 
13RP - May 30, 2013; 14RP - June 3, 2013 ; 15RP - June 4, 2013; 16RP - June 5, 2013; 
17RP - June 6, 2013; 18RP - June 10, 2013; 19RP - June 11,2013; 20RP - June 12, 
2013 ; 21 RP .- June 12,20 13(afternoon); 22RP .-. June 13,2013; 23RP - June 16, 2013 ; 
24RP - Aug. 23, 2013. 
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a. Background 

Saechao and Yang had been involved for approximately eight years, 

since she was 13 years old, and the couple had a four-year-old daughter. 

14RP 103-04, 109. The relationship was marred by Saechao's emotional 

and physical abuse of Yang. 15RP 44-46. Shortly before the events in this 

case, Saechao went to prison for violating a no-contact order prohibiting him 

from contacting Yang. 14 RP 115. Portions of the couple's phone calls 

(recorded while he was incarcerated) were admitted to demonstrate 

Saechao's possessive and controlling relationship with Yang and his extreme 

concern that she might be unfaithful. RP 140-60; Exs. 99 A, 101, 104-113. 

Saechao's concern turned out to be well founded. Fed up with his 

abuse, Yang decided to leave him. 14RP 115-16; 15RP 32-33, 35. She kept 

her decision from him until after his release, but in the mean time, she had 

sexual contact with two other men. 14RP 115; 15RP 33, 35. One was 

Huong Duong, known as Wayne. 14RP 115. The other was Cu Truong. 

14RP 115. She testified she considered her relationship with Truong to be 

merely a one-night stand, whereas she felt herself to be in the beginning 

stages of anew relationship with Duong. 14RP 125-26, 128-29; 15RP46. 

A few days before Christmas 2011, Saechao was released from jail. 

15RP 31-32. On December 26, in the presence of her parents, Yang 

officially ended their relationship. 14RP 116; 15RP 32. She also told him 
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she had been unfaithful to him with both Duong and Truong. 15RP 46-47, 

127-28. She claimed he was not particularly upset, except for the fact that he 

considered Duong to be his good friend. 14RP 117; 15RP 41-42. His 

subsequent conduct, however, belied Yang' s claims of his equanimity. 

After Saechao learned of Yang's relationship with Duong, he called 

Duong to come see him. 15RP 129. Over the course of an hour spent sitting 

in Saechao's car, Duong apparently agreed to hand over his tax refund as 

compensation for the betrayal. 15RP 130-31; 16RP 145-46. Duong claimed 

this was a negotiated agreement to avoid the fistfight that would otherwise 

likely ensue. 16RP 146-48. He testified he willingly handed over his jade 

Buddha necklace, worth approximately $2,400, as collateral until he received 

the tax refund. 16RP 144, 149. Saechao showed the necklace to Yang and 

told her Duong had given it to him as a payoff for sleeping with her. 15RP 

129-3l. 

b. Evening of December 27, 2011 

The evening of December 27, after work, Truong met Yang, Duong, 

and their friend Karla Diocales at a restaurant. 18RP 122. The purpose of 

their meeting was to find methamphetamine for Truong to purchase, but they 

were unsuccessful. 18RP 122. While at the restaurant, Yang told Truong 

that Saechao had stolen Duong's necklace because she had slept with him. 
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18RP 134-36. She also told Truong that Saechao knew about her liaison 

with Truong and that Saechao was "beefing." 18RP 134-36. 

Afterwards, Truong and Yang went to a casino. 18RP 125. Yang 

claimed Truong also drove her to Alki beach, showed her a house under 

construction, and told her it was where they would live together with her 

daughter in the future. 14RP 124-25. She claimed she did not respond 

because there were no other signs that Truong considered their relationship 

to be serious. 14RP 125-26. After some time, Yang left the casino to try to 

locate some methamphetamine for Truong. 18RP 126. Later, she called 

Truong, who was still at the casino, and told him to stop by Duong's 

brother's bakery (where Duong worked nights baking bread) to pick up the 

methamphetamine when he was ready. 18RP 127. 

c. Events at the Bakery 

When Truong arrived at the bakery, Saechao came outside and 

moved boldly towards him, looking angry. 18RP 133. He demanded 

Truong's diamond earrings and his money in payment for sleeping with 

Yang. 18RP 138. Truong told him no, but was on edge because of 

Saechao's recent treatment of Duong. 18RP 134-37. Saechao followed 

Truong into the bakery repeating his demands for the earrings and money. 

l8RP 137-38. Truong tried to ignore him. 18RP 139. Once inside, Saechao 
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told Truong to "give him the stuff or he's going to cap my ass," meaning, 

"he's going to shoot me." 18RP 139. 

Truong was aware of Saechao's extreme jealousy regarding Yang 

and his theft of Duong's necklace. 18RP 146. He knew Saechao would be 

armed because Saechao had pulled a revolver from his waistband during a 

methamphetamine transaction with Truong a few months earlier. 18RP 

143-44. He knew Saechao's brutal treatment of Yang included sudden 

bursts of violent rage. 18RP 145. When Saechao reached into his 

waistband, Truong believed he was about to die. 18RP 141-42. 

Truong grabbed his own gun, turned around, fired from where he 

stood, and continued firing as he quickly walked out the door. 18RP 146-48. 

He did not say anything and did not pause. 18RP 148. He noticed Saechao 

bending over towards him and believed he was still trying to pull his 

weapon. 18RP 148. As Truong moved toward the door, he brushed very 

close to Saechao, so he knew Saechao had been hit. 18RP 149-50. But his 

only intention was to escape the bakery alive. 18RP 150. 

Truong drove first to his sister's, but she was not home. 18RP 151-

52. On the way to his friend Randy's home, he threw his gun into a trash 

can. 18RP 152. He and Randy smoked methamphetamine together. 18RP 

153 . Later, Truong called his sister and asked her to pick him up. 18RP 

157-58. Truong's sister drove him in his car back to her home, where he 

-6-



smoked more methamphetamine. 18RP 158. In the morning, Truong, his 

sister, and her boyfriend left the house and headed for his mother's home. 

18RP159. 

d. Police Investigation and Interviews 

Meanwhile, Duong called 911. 16RP 97. But first, he took a few 

moments to hide some money from the police (Vang testified Duong told her 

it was methamphetamine that he hid). 15RP 110; 16RP 162. Police began 

to arrive at the bakery just after midnight. 10RP 34-35. Duong told them the 

same thing he told the 911 operator: that Saechao had been shot by an 

unknown robber. 14RP 161. Hearing Duong lie to the police, Yang decided 

to do so as well. 14RP 161-62. When confronted, Yang and Duong later 

told an entirely different story that they claimed was the truth. 14RP 163-64; 

16RP 69-70. 

According to Yang, she and Diocales arrived at the bakery before 

Duong got there, so they waited and smoked methamphetamine in the car. 

14RP 127. After he arrived, they went inside and smoked some more. 14RP 

129. She was surprised when Saechao arrived at the bakery because he did 

not usually hang out with them there. 14RP 129-30. She was nervous 

because of the recent break-up and her budding relationship with Duong. 

14RP 129-32. She claimed Saechao was angry but not violent or threatening 
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and she was not afraid. 14RP 132-34. Diocales testified Saechao was angry 

and argued with Yang, who had been avoiding his phone calls. 14RP 78-80. 

Yang testified Truong arrived a few minutes after Saechao and asked 

ifhe had any methamphetamine to sell. 14RP 138. Duong testified Saechao 

and Truong seemed to be arguing outside. 16RP 50, 139-40. Not wanting to 

draw police attention to his brother's bakery, he asked them to come inside. 

16RP 50. Once inside, Yang heard Truong say, "I heard you were trying to 

set me up." 14RP 144. Saechao replied, "If I was, it would be done 

already." 14RP 144. Truong then demanded the return of Duong's 

necklace. 14RP 144. Saechao denied taking the necklace and told Truong, 

"he gave it to me." 14RP 144. According to Yang, it was at this point that 

Truong pulled out a gun and shot Saechao. 14RP 144. 

According to Duong, he told Truong the issue was between him and 

Saechao, but Truong would not drop the subject. 14RP 182. Duong claimed 

to hear Saechao ask Truong, "What are you gonna do about it?" 16RP 182-

83. He claimed Truong repeated, "What am I gonna do about it?" and then 

shot Saechao. 16RP 183. 

Yang testified the first shot hit Saechao in the leg and he began to 

lean on some bakery racks. 14RP 148; 150-51. She heard a pause before the 

second and third shots hit Saechao somewhere in the midsection and 

Saechao began to hunch forward. 14RP 148-51. As he tired, she saw 
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Truong walk toward the entrance. 14RP 148-49. By the time of the fourth 

shot, Truong was side by side with Saechao, his arm a foot from Saechao's 

head, and Saechao fell to the ground. 14RP 148-49. 

Duong described the first shot as hitting Saechao in the groin, and the 

second in the stomach. 16RP 54. He testified Truong walked to Saechao's 

side and fired a third shot into his shoulder. 16RP 54. He claimed Truong 

was on his way out the door when he returned, said "fuck it," pointed the 

gun straight down into the middle of Saechao's head and fired a fourth shot. 

16RP 59-60. Before Truong left, Yang and Duong heard him say that no 

one had better say anything. 14RP 145; 16RP 129, 179. 

Diocales could not see anything from where she was sitting. 14RP 

31-32, 35-36, 86-87. She did not hear anything Truong said. 14RP 34, 36, 

43,51,95. She merely heard three gunshots and then left because she was 

afraid of getting in trouble and she was already on probation. 14 RP 92, 99-

100. On her way out, she told Yang not to tell the police she was there. 

14RP 49. 

Detective Robin Cleary interviewed Duong, and then let him go 

home. llRP 20. Meanwhile, Detective Mike Mellis interviewed Yang. 

llRP 20. Twenty-five minutes into their interview, Mellis told Yang she 

was not being truthful. 11 RP 152-53. She continued to explain and he again 

confronted her about not being forthcoming. 11 RP 152-53. She then started 
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crying and changed her story entirely. 11 RP 152-53. Roughly four hours 

after police had arrived, Yang recanted the robbery story she had initially 

told police. 11 RP 20-22. Duong was asked to return and also gave an 

entirely different story. 11 RP 21, 58-59. Cleary testified their inconsistent 

accounts delayed the investigation. lIRP 56-57. 

e. Truong's Arrest and Interview 

Mellis found Truong's white BMW parked in front of his sister's 

house and set up surveillance around 7 a.m. 11 RP 102-03. King County 

Sheriff's deputies stopped the car shortly after it left around 9 a.m., and 

Truong was arrested approximately nine hours after the investigation began. 

lORP 86, 92-93. A deputy informed Truong he was under arrest for 

homicide. IORP 93. Truong responded, "What are you talking about? I 

didn't do anything!" 10RP 93. Detective Sampson took custody of 

Truong's sister, and testified she never asked why Truong was being 

arrested. 13RP 137. 

In his interview with King County detectives repeatedly told Truong 

they knew he was present at the shooting, and asked if he was a mere 

bystander or if he had, perhaps, acted in self-defense. Exs. 55-57.2 Truong 

repeatedly denied knowing anything about the shooting. I8RP 161-63; 

19RP 4-5, 8; Exs. 55-57. He testified he lied because he was high on 

2 Exhibit 55 is the transcript of Truong's interview with the detectives. Exhibits 56 and 
57 are the audio and video recordings of that interview. 
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methamphetamine and did not trust police after a previous bad experience. 

18RP 201-03. He explained he did not believe they wanted to understand 

his side of the story. 19RP 18. He believed they only wanted a confession 

and would not believe his version of events. 18RP 201-02; 19RP 18. 

From jail, Truong called Yang, pretended not to know what had 

happened, told her he did not see her after she left the casino, and asked her 

to visit him. 19RP 26-27; Ex. 91. Yang was angry and refused. 14RP 171-

74. 

f. Forensic Evidence 

Forensic examination of Truong's sweater revealed spots of blood. 

5RP 27-29. DNA analysis excluded Truong as the source of the blood, 

which matched a reference sample from Jason Saechao. 5RP 32-33. 

The autopsy revealed Saechao was shot four times. 12RP 96-97. 

The medical examiner testified three of the shots, to the leg, arm, and neck, 

were potentially survivable. 12RP 110, 116. A fourth appeared to be a 

contact shot to the head and would have caused nearly instantaneous death. 

12RP 111-12, 116. The autopsy revealed nothing about the order in which 

the injuries occurred or the position of the shooter. 12RP 118. Saechao's 

blood tested positive for a significant amount of methamphetamine. 12RP 

149; 13RP 49-50. 
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The medical examiner agreed the shot to the leg was at a steep angle 

that could be consistent with a self-inflicted injury. 12RP 146-47. Four shell 

casings found at the scene were determined to have been fired from the same 

weapon. 17RP 158. But a bullet fragment was found that could not be 

conclusively linked to the bullets found in and around Saechao's body or the 

casings. 18RP 39. Strewn around Saechao's body were a piece of tissue, a 

lanyard with keys attached, a container of tic-tac mints, and a cigarette pack. 

12RP 51-55. It appeared someone had gone through his pockets, but Yang, 

Duong, and Diocales all denied having done so. 9RP 130-31; 14RP 92, 94, 

156-57; 16RP 67-68. Based on this evidence, and Duong's admission that 

he took the time to hide something before calling 911, Truong argued 

Saechao may also have been armed and fired a shot, and Duong had the 

opportunity to take and hide Saechao's gun. 19RP 75-79, 110-15. 

g. Closing Arguments 

In closing argument, the prosecutor attempted to parse out the 

varying accounts of what happened the night of December 27, 2011 by 

telling the jury the following: 

You know, there are moments in every trial when you 
get the purest of purest glimpses into that human element. It 
can't be practiced, and it can't be rehearsed. We didn't sit 
down with these witnesses and practice their direct 
testimony. We didn't show them anything, other than their 
own transcripts. And the only thing we told them was come 
in here and tell the truth. 
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Admit you are a meth addict. Admit you were 
smoking meth that day. And admit your initial story to the 
cops wasn't true. Ms. Diocales, admit that you cowardly ran 
off and left your friends there to deal with the cops. But tell 
this jury exactly what happened, and don't hide from 
anything. And that's exactly what they did. 

19RP 49-50 (emphasis added). The prosecutor argued Truong's responses, 

by contrast, were "rehearsed": 

And the other, oft repeated, I submit rehearsed response, I 
was scared for my life. Couple of human moments that Mr. 
Truong couldn't avoid. From what I've learned of Jason, I 
was scared of my life. From what you've learned of Jason, 
since the time you shot him? And from what you've learned 
of Jason that you know the jury will hear? 

19RP 60. Regarding Saechao, the prosecutor continued, "And you hope, 

you just hope that maybe the jury won't care either. And he's wrong. We 

know he's wrong." 19RP 60. In rebuttal to Truong's argument that he did 

not intend to kill Saechao, but was only trying to escape the bakery with his 

life, the prosecutor told the jury, "I would hate to see what kind of a crime 

scene he makes when he does intend to kill. That is about - that is about the 

best evidence you are going to get." 19RP 122-23. 
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C. ARGUMENT 

TRUONG'S TRIAL WAS UNFAIR BECAUSE THE 
PROSECUTOR IMPROPERLY VOUCHED FOR THE STATE'S 
WITNESSES, OFFERED A PERSONAL OPINION ON THE 
STRENGTH OF THE EVIDENCE, AND APPEALED TO THE 
JURY'S EMOTIONS. 

A prosecutor is a quasi-judicial officer representing the people of the 

state in the search for justice. State v. Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 

P.3d 551 (2011). But "defendants are among the people the prosecutor 

represents." Id. Thus, "the prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that 

their rights to a constitutionally fair trial are not violated." Id. 

Prosecutorial misconduct violates the defendant's right to a fair trial 

and requires reversal of the conviction when the prosecutor's argument was 

improper misconduct and there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct 

affected the verdict. In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann, 175 Wn.2d 696, 

703-04, 286 P.3d 673 (2012). Even when there was no objection at trial, 

reversal is required when the misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned 

as to be incurable by instruction. Id. The focus of this inquiry is more on 

whether the effect of the argument could be cured than on the prosecutor's 

mindset or intent. State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 552, 280 P.3d 1158 

(2012) rev. denied, 175 Wn.2d 1025 (2012) (citing State v. Emery, 174 

Wn.2d 741, 759- 61,278 P.3d 653 (2012)). 
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Here, the prosecutor's closing argument improperly bolstered the 

credibility of the State's witnesses, vouched for the strength of the evidence, 

and appealed to jurors' desires not to be seen as uncaring. Taken alone or 

separately, these improper arguments deprived Truong of a fair trial by an 

impartial jury. The prosecutor's comments were improper and created an 

effect that could not be cured. Alternatively, counsel was ineffective in 

failing to object. 

a. The Prosecutor Improperly Vouched for Vang's and 
Duong's Credibility by Arguing They Were Told to 
Tell the Truth and "That's Exactly What They Did." 

A prosecutor may not offer a personal opinion on the credibility of 

the State's witnesses. State v. Coleman, 155 Wn. App. 951, 957, 231 P.3d 

212 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1016, 245 P.3d 772 (2011). 

Improper vouching occurs when the prosecutor places the prestige of the 

government behind the witness or expresses a personal belief as to the 

witness'truthfulness. Id. (citing United States v. Roberts, 618 F.2d 530, 

533 (9th Cir. 1980); State v. Ish, 170 Wn.2d 189, 196, 241 P.3d 389 

(2010) (citing United States v. Brooks, 508 F.3d 1205, 1209 (9th Cir. 

2007)). Although it is permissible to reason that the evidence showed a 

witness is truthful, it is misconduct to declare the witness truthful based on 

something other than the evidence. In this case, the prosecutor declared 

Yang and Duong told the truth, not because the evidence supported that 
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conclusion, but because they had been instructed to do so by the 

prosecutors. 19RP 49-50. This was misconduct. 

"Akin to the rule against vouching is the advocate-witness rule, 

under which attorneys are generally prohibited from taking the witness 

stand to testify in a case they are litigating." United States v. Edwards, 

154 F.3d 915, 921 (9th Cir. 1998). Both rules are "designed to prevent 

prosecutors from taking advantage of the natural tendency of jury 

members to believe in the honesty of lawyers in general, and government

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