NO. 70811-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CU TRUONG,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE CATHERINE SHAFFER

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

DENNIS J. MCCURDY Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 Third Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9000 W

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

And you see in those human moments they are not proud that they were smoking meth. They are not proud that they were out looking for drugs. And they were certainly beyond question traumatized by what they saw. Tears. Shaken up.

Ms. Vang, I wish, I so wish that when Cu called me from jail, I wish I could have asked him why. You know why she wants to ask why? Because there's no good reason for what Cu Truong did that day. Mr. Duong. No, counsel, I'm not high. I'm not sitting here high. Yeah, I'm nervous. Because for the first time I'm looking at the man that shot my friend. Human moments where you get to see a demeanor, and honesty, and a rawness that can't be rehearsed, and can't be practiced, and tells you that these people came in here and told you exactly what happened that day.

19RP 49-51 (the two sentences selected by the defendant are underlined).

This case is very akin to <u>Swan</u>, a child sex case wherein the following passage in closing argument describing the two child victims was challenged by the defendant:

Between the two of them—We know that [B.A.] had no sex education from her parents. That was pretty clear. And we also know that neither child had trouble with lying. That wasn't something that came out, that there were problems with these children lying or that these were children you had to watch carefully. These were little girls who could talk, you could trust, they told the truth.

Swan, at 660-61 (emphasis assed). The Court found no misconduct, stating that "it is clear to us that the deputy prosecuting attorney was simply drawing a reasonable inference from the evidence." Id. at 665. The evidence at trial showed the girls were "well-behaved, normal children who did not have a problem with lying." Id.⁹

In <u>Swan</u>, the Court referenced anther case with approval <u>State v. Papadopoulos</u>, ¹⁰ a case where the credibility of two State witnesses was "strenuously attacked" by defense counsel. In closing argument, the prosecutor stated that "[the witnesses] have

⁹ The Court in <u>Swan</u> also stated that even if the comments were improper, they were "not of such an egregious sort that a curative instruction could not have removed any resulting prejudice," and thus Swan's failure to object would have barred review. <u>Swan</u>, at 665.

¹⁰ 34 Wn. App. 397, 399, 662 P.2d 59, <u>rev denied</u>, 100 Wn.2d 1003 (1983).

testified honestly before you", and, "[t]he gist of what they have said has been the truth." Swan, at 664 (quoting Papadopoulos, 34 Wn. App. at 399). With approval, the Supreme Court stated, "[t]he Court of Appeals did not see those statements as an expression of personal belief on the prosecutor's part, holding that the argument viewed in context revealed that the prosecutor merely called the jury's attention to the facts and circumstances in evidence tending to support the witnesses' credibility." Swan, at 664.

Similarly here, the evidence at trial showed that each one of three witnesses either initially lied to the police or were reluctant to be involved at all. Vang and Duong both testified that they initially lied and then ultimately told the truth. At trial, for example, Vang was asked when she decided to "tell the truth," to which she responded, when Detective Mellis "confronted me that my story was BS." 15RP 167. Asked what she was told before testifying, Vang responded that the prosecutor told her "just to be honest." 15RP 163.

Additionally, the testimony showed that each of the witnesses was told by Detective Mellis to tell him the truth and each responded that they did. See e.g. 14RP 163-64 (Vang deciding to tell "what really happened"); 16RP 70 (Duong stating that he

decided to "come clean" when he spoke a second time to the detective). Each witness also, as the prosecutor stated, admitted to his or her failings, their meth addiction, their infidelity, their lying, their criminal history, ¹¹ how Diocales fled the scene etc.

Nowhere in closing did the prosecutor argue anything about the credibility of the witnesses that was not based upon the testimony from the trial. She did not state nor argue that she personally believed the witnesses. Rather, the prosecutor appropriately argued that the witnesses were credible based upon the facts known to the jury, the things the witnesses admitted to, their demeanor and the statements they made about telling the truth. This type of argument is perfectly permissible. State v. Millante, 80 Wn. App. 237, 250-51, 908 P.2d 374, rev. denied, 129 Wn.2d 1012 (1995) (a prosecutor is free to comment on the credibility of a witness and argue inferences about credibility based on the evidence in the record). Prejudicial error does not occur

Diocales admitted to having 12 prior criminal convictions, being addicted to meth and being clean at trial only because she was in a residential DOSA inpatient treatment program due to a felony conviction. 14RP 16-17. Vang admitted that she was currently in custody pending a felony trial for eluding, second-degree assault, possession of stolen property and theft. 14RP 104, 111-12. She also admitted to having multiple prior convictions and to having been addicted to meth since the age of 17. Id. Duong admitted that he had a prior conviction and was pending trial on another case. 16RP 39. He admitted to being heavily addicted to meth but professed that he was sober while he was testifying and that the prosecutor had been talking with him for two days about being clean for trial. 16RP 40, 70, 76, 175.

until such time as it is "clear and unmistakable" that counsel is not arguing an inference from the evidence but is expressing a personal opinion. See e.g., Sargent, supra (the prosecutor clearly crossed the line when he used the phrase "I believe him"); contrast, State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 94, 804 P.2d 557 (1991) (despite repeated use of the phrase, "I think" or "I think the evidence shows" the court held this manner of speaking did not constitute misconduct where the points being made were supported by the evidence – the prosecutor was not expressing a personal opinion). Here, the prosecutor never crossed the line into the arena of personal vouching or bolstering. 12

Another claim of the defendant, again relying on just a few select sentences, is that the prosecutor committed misconduct when she said "I would hate to see what kind of a crime scene he makes when he does intend to kill. That is about – that is about the best evidence you are going to get." 19RP 122-23. The defendant

¹² The defendant says the situation here is akin to what happened in <u>State v. Ish</u>, 170 Wn.2d 189, 241 P.3d 389 (2010), wherein the Court discussed the impropriety of the jury learning that a witness had struck a plea deal to reduced charges upon agreement to provided "truthful testimony," an agreement that implied that State had the ability to know whether the witness was telling the truth or not. There were no deals in this case, nothing that indicated that the State had some sort of innate ability to determine if the witnesses were telling the truth. <u>Ish</u> is simply not applicable here. Additionally, the Court in <u>Ish</u>, while finding the introduction of the terms of the plea agreement improper, the Court held the error was harmless. <u>Ish</u>, 170 Wn.2d at 201.

asserts that the prosecutor was implying she had a wealth of experience in other cases where there was less evidence and that the jurors in those cases had found the defendant guilty. Def. br. at 19. But the defendant can only make this argument by taking the sentence out of context and by a bit of inventiveness.

The prosecutor took great pains to show how the forensic evidence, taken in conjunction with the nature of Saechao's wounds, proved that the defendant was not firing randomly or in fear when he shot Saechao. See 19RP 122-23. Rather, there was "perfect evidence of a contact wound," the prosecutor told the jury, with the "muzzle end of the barrel to [Saechao's] skull," demonstrating that the defendant "intended to kill Jason Saechao and nothing less." 19RP 122. The prosecutor then uttered the challenged statement above, followed by "[a]t the very least he had more than enough time, and there is more than enough evidence that that was premeditated killing when he put that gun to the back of Jason Saechao's head." 19RP 123. Rather than *implying* that as an experienced prosecutor she had some external knowledge about other cases, the prosecutor was directly stating that the evidence in the defendant's case very strongly supported a finding that when the defendant shot Saechao he intended to kill him.

Next, the defendant objects to the prosecutor's use of the pronoun "we," and in discussing the failings of Saechao, claiming that in a calculated manner the prosecutor was attempting to align herself with the jury in some fashion and was appealing to the passion and prejudice of the jury in seeking a verdict not based on the evidence, but on sympathy. Def. br. at 21. This assertion is not supported by the record.

First, simply using the pronoun "we" in a rhetorical manner is not misconduct. For example, the prosecutor stated, "the fourth and final shot, as we know beyond a reasonable doubt from Kathy Geil and Dr. Fusaro, that it was a contact shot." This was not an attempt to somehow garner a sense of closeness with the jury, rather, it was a way of saying what the evidence showed.

Second, when the prosecutor discussed Saechao's failings (see 19RP 60), his meth addiction, his domestic violence, his criminal convictions, the prosecutor was not attempting to garner sympathy for Saechao, rather, it is clear that the prosecutor was asking the jurors not to let the bad things about Saechao cloud their judgment. It was the very fact that the jurors might not have sympathy for Saechao that the prosecutor was trying to combat. In any event, the Supreme Court has stated, "[a] prosecutor is not

muted because the acts committed arouse natural indignation."

State v. Borboa, 157 Wn.2d 108, 123, 135 P.3d 469 (2006) (citing State v. Fleetwood, 75 Wn.2d 80, 84, 448 P.2d 502 (1968). In Borboa, a child rape case, the Supreme Court held that it was perfectly permissible for the prosecutor to refer to the "horrible" nature of the crime and the effect of the crime on the victim.

Borboa, 157 Wn.2d at 123.

Finally, the defendant asserts that the prosecutor expressed a personal opinion when she stated that the part of the defendant's testimony appeared rehearsed. The single line referred to was as follows: "And the other, oft repeated, I submit rehearsed response, I was scared for my life." 19RP 60. "I submit" is not a phrase indicative of the prosecutor expressing a personal opinion. Rather, the phrase indicates that something is being submitted to the jurors for their determination and that the evidence suggests a result. Further, whether the defendant's testimony appeared rehearsed would be based in large part on his demeanor while testifying, evidence the jury may fully consider and the prosecutor free to discuss, and something that is not part of the record. State v. Stratton, 170 Wn. 666, 673-674, 17 P.2d 621 (1932) (jury has right to consider a witnesses' demeanor upon the witness stand); State

v. Scott, 58 Wn. App. 50, 791 P.2d 559 (1990) (once a defendant testifies at trial, he is subject to having his credibility explored just like any other witness) accord, State v. Day, 51 Wn. App. 544, 551, 754 P.2d 1021, rev. denied, 11 Wn.2d 1016 (1988).

3. The Defendant's Failure to Object

A defendant's failure to object to misconduct at trial constitutes waiver on appeal unless the misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that it evinces an enduring and resulting prejudice incurable by an instruction to the jury. Fisher, 165 Wn.2d at 747. In other words, even if misconduct occurred at trial, reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by an objection and curative instruction that the defense did not request. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85.

In <u>Swan</u>, the defendant's challenge to the prosecutor's closing argument wherein he told the jury that the child witnesses were truthful, was waived by the defendant's failure to object at trial. <u>Swan</u>, 114 Wn.2d at 660-662. In <u>Warren</u>, the prosecutor's complete misstatement of the law regarding the burden of proof, an error constitutional magnitude, was sufficiently cured by the trial judge after the defendant raised an objection. <u>Warren</u>, 165 Wn.2d

at 24-28. These two cases demonstrate both the need to object and the trial court's ability to cure misconduct that does occur.

Here, the defendant failed to raise an objection or ask for a curative instruction. The defendant failed to give the trial judge the opportunity to cure any misconduct. Here, given the opportunity, the court, for example, could have admonished the prosecutor and ordered the jury to disregard the comments deemed improper.

Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. State v.

Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). There is simply nothing so egregious about the alleged misconduct in this case that could not have been easily cured or stopped by a simple objection and request for a curative instruction. Thus, the defendant's misconduct claim is waived.

4. The Failure to Prove Prejudice

A conviction will be reversed upon a claim of misconduct only upon the defendant showing that there is a substantial likelihood that the alleged misconduct affected the verdict. Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 86. Here, the defendant can prove no such thing.

To begin, the court instructed the jury, orally and in writing, that:

It is your duty to decide the facts in this case based upon the evidence presented to you during this

trial...Your decisions as jurors must be made solely upon the evidence presented during these proceedings. The evidence that you are to consider during your deliberations consists of the testimony that you have heard from witnesses, stipulations and the exhibits that I have admitted, during the trial. If evidence was not admitted or was stricken from the record, then you are not to consider it in reaching your verdict....As jurors, you are officers of this court. You must not let your emotions overcome your rational thought process. You must reach your decision based on the facts proved to you and on the law given to you, not on sympathy, prejudice, or personal preference. To assure that all parties receive a fair trial, you must act impartially with an earnest desire to reach a proper verdict.

CP 169-71. Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. Lough, 125 Wn.2d at 864.

Whatever minor prejudice the defendant can ascribe to the alleged misconduct, he cannot show that the verdict was based on anything but a careful evaluation of the evidence, including the forensic and scientific evidence that supported the eyewitness testimony. This conclusion is enhanced by proof that the defendant repeatedly lied – lies he had to admit at trial, his attempt to tamper with the witnesses -- including in a recorded jail phone call, and his incredulous testimony that included his assertion that the contact wound to the top of Saechao's head could have happened as he was running out the door while still firing his 9mm handgun.

The prosecutor did not discuss evidence that had not been admitted and did not misstate the law in any way. None of the challenged comments here were of such significance or of such gravity that the defendant can prove that but for the comments, he likely would not have been found guilty.

5. A Misconduct Claim cannot be so Easily Transformed into a Claim of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must first prove that counsel's performance was deficient, and second, he must prove that the deficient performance prejudiced him. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-68, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The first element is met by showing that when considering all the circumstances of trial, counsel's conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Id. The second element is met by showing that there is a reasonable probability the outcome of trial would have been different if the attorney had performed adequately. Id. If either element is not proven by the defendant, the inquiry must end. State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). The court begins with the strong presumption that a defendant received

effective representation. <u>State v. Brett</u>, 126 Wn.2d 136, 198, 892 P.2d 29 (1995).

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